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ING real estate healthcare Fund

n ING real estate healthcare Fund (IhF) is a publicly listed property trust that invests 
in healthcare properties including hospitals, specialist medical office buildings,  
medical centres, rehabilitation facilities, residential aged care, medical laboratories  
and other purpose-built healthcare facilities. 

n as at 30 June 2009 the occupancy rate for the Fund was 98.7% with a weighted 
average lease term to expiry of 12.1 years. IhF presently owns a diversified 
australian portfolio of seven properties and is the only asx listed entity that 
focuses exclusively on healthcare property.

n ING real estate healthcare Fund is one of six property trusts managed by 
ING real estate Investment management australia (INGreIma) on behalf of  
60,000 investors. INGreIma meets the needs of both institutional and retail  
investors through listed and unlisted Funds. the Funds operate in key real estate 
sectors including office, industrial, retail, seniors housing, entertainment and 
healthcare property. INGreIma’s investment philosophy holds that real estate  
is an integral component of a well-diversified portfolio, encompassing a broad  
range of opportunities, each with unique risk and reward characteristics.

n INGreIma is part of the global ING real estate Investment management platform. 
with over 80 Funds, offices in 22 countries and more than 1,500 employees  
across the globe, ING real estate Investment management is one of the world’s 
leading property investment managers.
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30 june 2009 2008

asx closing price $0.72 $0.75

total distributions (cents per unit) 8.70 8.70

tax deferred component 100.0% 86.1%

annualised yield on closing price 12.1% 11.6%

Net asset value per unit $1.10 $1.29

market capitalisation $36.8m $37.4m

total assets $207.7m $210.2m

Gearing ratio (debt to total assets)  64.9% 64.7%

units on issue 51.1m 49.9m

Number of unitholders 2,825 2,870

Key Financial data
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AustRAliAn ReD cRoss blooD seRvice FAcility, bRisbAne qlD
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IhF was the best performing  
a-reIt out of the 66 that  
trade on the asx over the  
12 months to 30 June 2009.

letter from chief executive officer

dear unitholder,

without doubt the 2009 financial year has been a very 
difficult one across worldwide economies. the Global 
Financial crisis (GFc) has presented governments, banks, 
investors and consumers with a number of significant 
challenges to work through. the availability of debt has 
become a significant concern for many and subject to entities 
being able to secure it the cost has increased markedly.  
as a result, we have seen value write downs in both equity 
and property markets, with many entities forced to sell assets 
or raise capital at discounted levels in order to de-lever.

the economic environment has been one of declining 
consumer and investor confidence, with many businesses 
having to cut costs through staff reductions and other 
measures. Given the severity and widespread nature  
of the GFc, acknowledging governments around the world 
have acted swiftly and substantively, its effects will likely  
take a significant period to work through the system.

what has held firm during this period of uncertainty is the 
demand for healthcare services. healthcare is largely a  
“need and not a want“and given this the tenants of the 
properties within your Fund have been performing well. 
regardless of economic conditions people still get sick, the 
population keeps ageing and the advances in technology 
keep providing more health solutions. these unique demand 
drivers demonstrate the defensive nature of the health sector.

the net operating income for the 2009 financial year was
up a pleasing 7.6% to $5.5 million from $5.1 million in 2008. 
this primarily resulted from:

n solid rental growth within the portfolio of 4.4%;
n a full year contribution from the australian red cross Blood 

service facility which we completed in april 2008; and
n a full year contribution from the Frankston private facility 

which the Fund acquired a 50% share of in august 2007.

under applicable International Financial reporting standards 
the Fund recorded a net loss of $4.4 million for the year 
ended 30 June 2009. this was down 127%, compared to 
a profit of $16 million for the previous financial year. the 
primary reason for this was non-operating and non-cash 
revaluation losses on interest rate derivative contracts and 
investment properties.

Following the half year result and some enquiries that  
I received from investors, I want to clearly articulate that  
Net operating Income (which is our operating performance) 
and not Net profit/loss is used as a measure of determining  
the level of distributions paid to investors. 

the fundamentals of the ING real estate healthcare Fund  
remain strong, with:

n occupancy at 98.7%;
n a weighted average lease term to expiry of 12.1 years;
n 100% of the leased portfolio being subject to either 

annual consumer price Index or fixed increases (with the 
majority accompanied by market reviews); and

n high quality, well located properties with a strong tenant base.
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these fundamentals have contributed to the Fund being the 
best performing australian real estate investment trust out of 
66 that trade on the asx over the 12 months to 30 June 2009.1

the revenue outlook for the Fund is sound given the 
sector we invest in and the rental growth profile contained 
within the leases. with part of the Fund’s debt maturing in 
February 2010 we have been in early discussions with our 
financiers. of the $96 million of debt maturing in February 
2010, management has agreed terms with the Fund’s lead 
bank ($63 million) with discussions on the remaining debt 
($33m) well advanced for renewal with the other bank. as 
mentioned, the cost of funding in the market has increased 
substantially for all borrowers and the Fund will be no 
exception. unfortunately, this is just a cost of doing business 
and a cost imposed by the GFc.

Following a solid Fy09 result the Fund has offered 
unitholders the opportunity to participate in a unit purchase 
plan (upp). under the upp, australian and New Zealand 
unitholders who held, and continued to hold, units at 7pm 
aest on 8th september 2009 were eligible to participate 
in the upp. they have been offered parcels of units ranging 
from 1,000 to 15,000 at a 7.5% discount to the lower of:

n the 5 day volume weighted average price (vwap) up to 
and including 27 august 2009 (which was $0.71); or

n the 5 day vwap up to and including 30 september 2009, 
being two days prior to the offer close on 2 october 2009.

the upp provides a cost effective way to increase your 
unitholding, with a discounted issue price and no brokerage 
fees or other transaction costs involved. I welcome your 
participation in the upp, the proceeds from which will go 
towards reducing debt and enhancing the Fund’s financial 
flexibility moving forward. please note, the offer is due  
to close shortly, on 2 october 2009.

with the increased cost of the Fund’s debt facilities 
and the impact of issuing new units under the upp, our 
current expectation is for a 10-15% reduction in the Fy10 
distribution compared to the 8.7 cent Fy09 distribution.  
this implies a distribution yield of between 10.4% and 
11.0% on the maximum upp issue price of $0.71.

For 2010 we will continue to do what we have always done, 
which is to provide you with the best possible fund and asset 
management services from our highly experienced team to 
navigate these difficult times. 

once again on behalf of the Board and management I would 
like to extend our sincere thanks for your ongoing support. 

Miles WentWoRtH

Chief Executive Officer
ING real estate healthcare Fund

Miles Wentworth
chief executive officer, ING real estate healthcare Fund

What has held firm during this 
period of uncertainty is the demand 
for healthcare services. Healthcare  
is largely a “need and not a want“ 
and given this the tenants of the 
properties within your Fund have 
been performing well. 

1) source: s&p/Iress
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Fund update

FunD PeRFoRMAnce 

Net operating income of the Fund for the year ended 
30 June 2009 was $5.5 million, up 7.6% on the previous 
financial year. the Fund also maintained its annual 
distribution of 8.7 cents. 

at 30 June 2009 the Fund comprised seven properties with 
a gross asset value of $207.7 million, down 1.2% on last year. 
Five of the properties are located in victoria (representing 
53% of the portfolio value) and two are located in 
Queensland (representing 47% of the portfolio value).

For the year ended 30 June 2009 the Fund’s valuations 
increased by $3.2 million or 1.6%, which was driven by 
a $10 million (56%) increase in the epworth Freemason’s 
clarendon street asset. this uplift was due to the asset’s 
valuation recognising the underlying development value  
and highest and best use of this strategically located site.

excluding epworth Freemason’s clarendon street, over  
the year the Fund’s valuations experienced a net decrease  
of $6.8 million. this consisted of an increase of 4.4% from 
solid rental growth, offset by a softening in capitalisation 
rates (73 basis point outward movement) 1.

of the seven properties within the Fund, 84% by value have 
been externally valued during the past six months, with 
all externally valued within the past 12 months. It is Fund 
policy for management and the Board to continually review 
property valuations within the portfolio in order to ensure 
they reflect current market value. 

at 30 June 2009 the net asset value per unit for the Fund 
was $1.16 2, compared to 30 June 2008 which was only 
marginally higher at $1.17 2.
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1) analysis excludes epworth Freemasons, clarendon street which was not valued on a capitalisation of income approach at year end 30 June 2009,  
but rather a discounted cashflow approach.

2) exclusive of mark to market of derivatives contracts. Including mark to market derivative contracts the Nav per unit at 30 June 09 was $1.10, down from $1.29 at end Fy08.

leAse exPiRy (by net incoMe) As At 30 june 2009 occuPAncy AnD ReneWAl RAtes
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PoRtFolio PeRFoRMAnce

during the year the portfolio experienced strong 
performance. Key highlights were as follows:

n overall year on year rental growth was 4.4% pa and 
for those leases that underwent a market rent review 
(reflecting 2.8% of Fund net income) the average uplift  
in rental was 18.6%.

n the occupancy rate for the Fund was 98.7%. there were 
five small suites within the portfolio available for lease  
at 30 June 2009, with four of these being retail suites  
on the recently completed arcBs headquarters in  
Kelvin Grove, Brisbane.

n the Fund’s weighted average lease term to expiry (walte) 
was a lengthy 12.1 years (this is significantly longer than 
that achieved by traditional office and retail funds).

n of leases that expired during the year, 97.5% (by income) 
entered into new leases. this trend also compares closely  
to renewal rates for the previous two financial years. 

n For the coming financial year 09/10, only 2.2% 
of the Fund’s net income is due for renewal. 

GOVERNMENT 25%
MAJOR NOT-FOR PROFITS 27%
DOCTOR OWNED BUSINESSES 18%
MAJOR-FOR-PROFITS 18%
ANCILLARY / RETAIL 12%
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management expect continuing high tenant retention  
rates in the portfolio based on:

n historic occupancy trends in the portfolio;

n long term lease commitments by anchor tenants;

n the nature of health sector tenants to remain in the 
same location for long periods of time;

n average lease renewal rates (by income) of 97.2% 
since the Fund’s inception in may 2006;

n strong tenant relationships; and 

n a portfolio consisting of high quality buildings 
in prime locations.

From an income growth perspective the portfolio has 
100% of its leases with either annual cpI or fixed increases 
(typically between 3-4%), with the majority of leases also 
accompanied by periodic market rent reviews.

the Fund’s income profile by provider type and tenant is 
well diversified and is outlined in the pie charts below.
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Fund update

ePWoRtH FReeMAsons PRivAte HosPitAl & MeDicAl centRe, eAst MelbouRne, vic 
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FunD MARKet PeRFoRMAnce

since the peak of the asx in November 2007 and the 
subsequent global financial crisis, the Fund has strongly 
outperformed the s&p/asx 200 a-reIt Index, as illustrated 
in the graph below. of the 66 listed australian real estate 
Investment trusts (a-reIts) within the index, the Fund was  
the 3rd best performing a-reIt based on a total return basis 
for the period 1 November 2007 to 30 June 2009. 

In regard to the financial year to 30 June 2009, IhF was  
the best performing a-reIt based on total return.1 

management’s interpretation of the Fund’s strong 
performance during the global financial crisis compared  
to other traditional property vehicles can be summarised  
by the following characteristics of the portfolio:

n a simple transparent rent-only vehicle;

n the defensive nature of the health sector and health 
sector property;

n secure long dated cashflows with solid growth;

n strong occupancy rates with low vacancy risk; and

n strong tenant operational performance. 

PotentiAl oPPoRtunities….

subject to securing appropriate funding, management, with its 
health specific development skill set, is continuing to evaluate 
medium term value-add opportunities for the portfolio. 

two existing potential opportunities to add value to the 
portfolio are an expansion of the epworth rehabilitation 
facility in camberwell and a redevelopment of the  
strategically located epworth Freemason’s clarendon street 
site in east melbourne.

Both of these projects have been progressed in the past year. 
as at 30 June 2009 the epworth rehabilitation camberwell 
expansion had been lodged for town planning and is well 
advanced in the process, and the epworth Freemasons 
clarendon project had progressed into concept design.  
these front end works underpin the value of these assets  
and provide future potential upside. 

In addition to IhF’s funding pre-condition, other conditions 
for these two projects to be progressed to construction 
commencement include highly robust tenant business cases, 
pre-secured leasing (with epworth healthcare being the 
anchor tenant at both projects) and sound financial return 
hurdles for the Fund. 

details on these two projects are as follows:

Epworth Rehabilitation Camberwell 

n an extension to the existing hospital comprising additional 
hospital beds, consulting space, other ancillary and retail areas.

n Forecast project cost of approximately $35 million.

Epworth Freemasons Clarendon Street

n a significant redevelopment incorporating an upgrade 
and expansion of the existing hospital.

n an additional three operating theatres and 96 beds (the 
existing facility currently has five theatres and 172 beds), 
along with expanded retail, diagnostic and consulting areas.

n Forecast project cost of approximately $100 million. 

suMMARy

the Fund comprises high quality assets and tenants, high levels 
of occupancy, a long weighted average lease term to expiry, 
solid income growth potential and all in a sector that has 
demand characteristics that are largely a need and not a want. 

Given these favourable property fundamentals, management 
looks forward to continuing to derive the best possible value 
for unitholders in the coming year.

1) source: s&p/Iress
2) source: Bloomberg
 performance is price only and rebased to 100 on 1 November 2007
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property portfolio

FunD HeAltHcARe tenAnts

Income within the property portfolio is secured via a diverse 
allocation of tenants including government, market leading 
for-profit operators, epworth Foundation (melbourne’s 
largest not-for-profit hospital operator) and doctor owned 
businesses. the strength of the Fund’s tenants provides 
stable, long dated, low risk cash flows with sound growth 
prospects. Background on the key healthcare tenants within 
the portfolio is below.

Epworth HealthCare
epworth healthcare is the largest private not-for-profit 
hospital operator in victoria with six hospitals comprising 
over 1,100 beds. epworth healthcare provides acute 
medical and surgical services, sub-acute care, diagnostics 
and rehabilitation to in excess of 90,000 in-patients annually. 
epworth are the main hospital tenant at three of the  
Fund’s properties.

Australian Red Cross Blood Service (ARCBS)
the australian red cross Blood service is an operating 
division of the Fund’s tenant, the australian red cross 
society. they are the national organisation responsible  
for providing the australian community with safe, high 
quality blood products and related services. arcBs supply 
blood products and services to more that 600 hospitals  
and healthcare providers. they employ approximately  
3,400 staff and are further supported by approximately  
2,500 volunteers nationally. they currently have over  
500,000 blood donors australia wide. 

arcBs is government funded (commonwealth, state  
and territory) via an entity called the National Blood  
authority (NBa) and had annual operating funding for  
2007-08 of $370 million. For the year ended 30 June 2008 
arcBs generated a surplus of $12.1 million. 

Healthscope Limited 
healthscope is asx listed and the second largest private 
hospital provider in australia, owning or managing  
43 medical/surgical, rehabilitation and psychiatric hospitals.  
In addition, healthscope operate a leading pathology 
business with facilities in australia, New Zealand,  
singapore and malaysia.

For the year ended 30 June 2009 their total revenue stood 
at $1,654 million (up 11.2% on last year) with an eBItda 
of $228.3 million (up 15.4% on last year). at 30 June 2009 
the company had net assets of $905.3 million (a 6.7% 
increase on Fy08). tenants within the IhF portfolio that are 
100% owned subsidiaries of healthscope include Gribbles 
pathology and Queensland surgicentre pacific (both located 
at the Fund’s pacific private facility). 

Queensland University of Technology (QUT)
Qut is a leading university funded by the state Government 
in Queensland and has approximately 40,000 students  
and 3,000 staff. Qut has an annual budget of $500 million 
and operates from four campuses including Kelvin Grove. 
at year end 2007, Qut delivered an operating surplus of 
$50 million which contributed to net assets of $950 million.

Melbourne Health
melbourne health is a major public health provider  
in victoria providing comprehensive acute, sub-acute  
and community-based health care programs. 

melbourne health has a current annual operating budget 
of $700 million. It serves a population of nearly one 
million people living in melbourne’s northern and western 
metropolitan region and provides an array of specialist 
services. melbourne health employs more than 7,000 staff 
across its services and manages more than 1,000 beds.

Primary Health Care Limited
primary health listed on the asx in 1998 and has a market 
capitalisation of circa $2 billion.

the operations of primary health across australia can be 
summarised as medical centres, pathology, diagnostic 
imaging and health technology. tenants within the IhF 
portfolio who are wholly owned subsidiaries of primary 
health include Qml pathology and Queensland medical 
services (both at pacific private).

CVC (I-Med Network)
cvc asia pacific, established in 1999, is one of the leading 
private equity firms in the asia pacific region. I-med 
Network is a 100% fully owned subsidiary of cvc.  
It is a major operator of australian diagnostic imaging 
clinics with a current turnover of $775 million and over 
300 employees. IhF radiology tenants who are subsidiaries 
of I-med Network include Gold coast medical Imaging 
(located at pacific private) and mIa (located at Frankston 
private, epworth Freemasons clarendon street and  
epworth Freemasons victoria parade).

Specialist Consultants
the Fund currently has 28 specialist or consulting group 
tenancies representing 10% of portfolio income. these 
tenants pay an average annual rental of approximately 
$60,000 per annum and leases are typically backed by 
personal guarantees from the doctors within a tenancy.
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AustRAliAn ReD cRoss blooD seRvice FAcility, bRisbAne qlD
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property portfolio

AUSTRALIAN REd CROSS BLOOd SERVICE FACILITy (ARCBS)
44 musk avenue, Kelvin Grove, Brisbane Qld

descrIptIoN state Blood testING, processING aNd dIstrIButIoN ceNtre For arcBs aNd QueeNslaNd 
 uNIversIty oF techNoloGy’s school oF humaN movemeNt studIes, optometry aNd podIatry

BuIlt 2008

INdepeNdeNt valuatIoN $63.5 mIllIoN

valuatIoN date 1 JuNe 2009

maJor teNaNt australIaN red cross socIety

walte 22.2 years

sIte area 6,897m2

lettaBle area 1 20,371m2

occupaNcy 98.1% leased

reNtal revIews hIGher oF cpI or 3-4% aNd marKet revIews

this facility is the Queensland state headquarters for the arcBs where they undertake testing, processing and distribution 
of all blood products to the public and private health systems for the state. In addition, Queensland university of technology 
(Qut) occupies the building for their schools of Biomechanics, optometry and podiatry.

completed in 2008, the building contains approximately 20,000 sqm of lettable floor area located on ground and three  
upper levels. In addition 300 car spaces are accommodated within two basement levels. the building is of high quality  
and designed around a central atrium that allows natural light into the tenancy areas.

the building was designed and purpose built for its two key users, arcBs and Qut and is supported by ancillary 
commercial and retail spaces.

1) Includes 8,348 sqm of net exclusive area occupied by Qut under an 80 year lease where rent has been paid in advance (this is similar in nature to a strata title).
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FRANkSTON PRIVATE
24-28 Frankston-Flinders road, Frankston vIc

descrIptIoN day surGery, caNcer servIces,
 dIaGNostIc aNd medIcal oFFIce

BuIlt 2006

INdepeNdeNt valuatIoN (50%) $15.25 mIllIoN

valuatIoN date  30 JuNe 2008

maJor teNaNts doctor owNed day surGery, 
 day oNcoloGy aNd radIotherapy

walte 5.4 years

sIte area 3,916m2

lettaBle area 4,539m2

occupaNcy 100%

reNtal revIews comBINatIoN oF cpI,  
 FIxed aNd marKet revIews

descrIptIoN materNIty hospItal, day surGery,
 medIcal oFFIce & aNcIllary servIces

BuIlt late 1980s

INdepeNdeNt valuatIoN $36.6 mIllIoN

valuatIoN date 31 decemBer 2008

maJor teNaNt epworth FouNdatIoN

walte 11.7 years

sIte area 4,541m2

lettaBle area 8,582m2

occupaNcy 100%

reNtal revIews comBINatIoN oF cpI,  
 FIxed aNd marKet revIews

In august 2007 the Fund acquired a 50% interest in 
Frankston private, a 4,539 sqm four level, purpose built 
hospital and medical facility completed in august 2006. 
the facility comprises a three theatre, 17 bed day surgery 
unit, radiation oncology, day oncology, medical imaging, 
pathology laboratory, medical consulting, pharmacy and 
supporting uses of a café, centre management and a  
state-of-the-art education and conference unit. there are  
also 83 on-site car spaces.

the facility is strategically located within a medical precinct, 
approximately 400 metres to the east of the Frankston 
public hospital (which currently has 336 beds plus planned 
expansion) and numerous supporting medical services.

EPWORTH FREEMASONS PRIVATE HOSPITAL & MEdICAL CENTRE
320 victoria parade, melbourne vIc

this facility comprises the epworth Freemasons private 
maternity hospital (one of melbourne’s leading maternity 
providers) with 38 in-patient beds, eight special care nursery 
beds and nine delivery suites. the facility also accommodates 
a four theatre day surgery unit, day oncology, ancillary 
services and numerous medical consulting tenancies in the 
specialties of obstetrics, gynaecology, paediatrics, oncology, 
urology, ophthalmology and general surgery. there is also  
an underground car park for 321 vehicles on site.
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EPWORTH REHABILITATION CAMBERWELL
888 toorak road, melbourne vIc

property portfolio

EPWORTH FREEMASONS PRIVATE HOSPITAL
cnr clarendon street & albert street, melbourne vIc

this hospital comprises 161 inpatient beds, an eight bed critical 
care unit, four monitored beds and five operating theatres. 

there are numerous upgrade works that have been 
undertaken at the facility including provision of maternity 
beds, medical clinics, new food services and an entrance  
and foyer refurbishment.

IhF and epworth have signed a development deed (dated 
1 may 2006) and have completed a concept plan for the 
development and significant refurbishment of a health 
campus. the clarendon street site provides for a significant 
development opportunity in a prime location.

this is a specialist rehabilitation hospital with 74 in-patient 
beds. the facility specialises in rehabilitative services in 
particular neurological, respiratory, cardiac, orthopaedic, 
muscular skeletal and post surgical rehabilitation. epworth 
is one of the leading providers of rehabilitation services in 
victoria. the hospital has a highly specialised rehabilitation 
gymnasium and hydrotherapy pool and also provides for 
physiotherapy, occupational therapy, speech therapy and 
psychological services. the facilities and services are also 
utilised by outpatients. 

three ancillary commercial buildings adjoin the main hospital 
site, providing the opportunity for expansion of the existing 
facilities on site. a redevelopment proposal providing for 
an additional 68 beds has proceeded to town planning stage. 

descrIptIoN rehaBIlItatIoN hospItal 

BuIlt 1970 wIth exteNsIoN IN 1995

INdepeNdeNt valuatIoN $17.5 mIllIoN

valuatIoN date 30 JuNe 2008

maJor teNaNt epworth FouNdatIoN

walte 12.3 years

sIte area 7,116m2

lettaBle area 5,098m2

Beds 74

occupaNcy 100%

reNtal revIews cpI aNd marKet revIews

descrIptIoN hospItal wIth aNcIllary dIaGNostIc 
 aNd caNcer servIces

BuIlt 1935, wIth exteNsIoNs 
 1950s, 60s, and 70s

INdepeNdeNt valuatIoN $28.0 mIllIoN

valuatIoN date 31 decemBer 2008

maJor teNaNt epworth FouNdatIoN

walte 4.8 years

sIte area 9,173m2

lettaBle area 13,990m2

Beds 173

occupaNcy 100%

reNtal revIews cpI revIews From may 2009 to 2011 
 aNd 5% pa FIxed From 2011 to 2014 
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HARVESTER CENTRE
cnr devonshire & harvester roads, sunshine vIc

the harvester centre is a high quality, part new and part  
fully refurbished, two storey medical office building with  
112 on-site car parks. the building accommodates a 
significant area for melbourne health to provide outpatient 
psychiatric health services to melbourne’s western suburbs. 
the facility also houses other public or government funded 
tenants providing health and community based services  
to this region.

the site is prominently positioned within sunshine and 
has attracted an excellent mix of complementary tenants. 
the sunshine suburb is approximately 13 kilometres from 
melbourne’s cBd and is located in close proximity to the 
western ring road and railway services.

PACIFIC PRIVATE CLINIC
119-123 Nerang street, southport Qld

pacific private clinic is a multi-tenanted facility 
accommodating 31 overnight hospital beds, three operating 
theatres, medical consulting tenants, radiology, pathology 
laboratory and pharmacy. It is a high profile healthcare 
facility strategically located on the main road into southport, 
in a designated health precinct, directly opposite the 400+ 
bed Gold coast public hospital and surrounded closely by 
numerous healthcare facilities. 

the building has a total of seven levels and accommodates 
227 cars on site. the premises are well presented and  
provide solid income growth opportunities. the facility  
has half of its income secured by the major listed healthcare 
operator, healthscope.

descrIptIoN medIcal oFFIce BuIldING 

BuIlt complete BuIldING reFurBIshmeNt 
 aNd exteNsIoN 2007

INdepeNdeNt valuatIoN $13.0 mIllIoN

valuatIoN date 31 decemBer 2008

maJor teNaNt melBourNe health (state GoverNmeNt)

walte 4.1 years

sIte area 5,021m2

lettaBle area 4,412m2

occupaNcy 98.9%

reNtal revIews comBINatIoN oF cpI,  
 FIxed aNd marKet revIews

descrIptIoN surGIcal & medIcal oFFIce BuIldING

BuIlt 2000

INdepeNdeNt valuatIoN $34.0 mIllIoN

valuatIoN date 31 decemBer 2008

maJor teNaNt healthscope lImIted (asx lIsted)

walte 5 years

sIte area 3,723m2

lettaBle area 7,968m2

occupaNcy 100%

reNtal revIews comBINatIoN oF cpI,  
 FIxed aNd marKet revIews
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healthcare property overview

HeAltHcARe PRoPeRty investMent

healthcare property can be categorised into five sub-sectors 
which comprise hospitals, residential aged care, primary care 
(general practice), mental health and health support services 
(eg. research facilities, laboratories). the scale of the private 
health care property market in australia runs into the tens 
of billions, with very low levels of institutional capital. 

separating property ownership from business operations 
allows the business operator to cost effectively release equity 
tied up in land and buildings, and direct it to their business 
operations where they can derive enhanced returns, and 
place the ownership and management of the building with 
a specialist property owner. as a specialist health property 
investor, IhF management is required to understand in detail 
not only the property side of the investment equation, but 
also detailed aspects of the tenant’s business, along with 
changing regulatory and funding environments associated 
with the health sector.

specialist health property owners add value to operators  
in many ways, through both full property ownership  
or joint venturing. examples of value add include an 
enhanced knowledge of design, construction and 
management techniques, maximising synergies between 
different health providers within developments, lowering 
property operating costs through scale purchasing, 
supporting operational growth with key tenants and  
driving efficient asset management. 

HeAltHcARe PRoPeRty cHARActeRistics

the major differences between healthcare property and 
standard commercial property are:

n location of sites based on specialised use 
e.g. medical precincts;

n importance of government-driven regulatory and 
funding environment;

n increased design and construction specialisation 
required to accommodate technology, work practices  
and regulatory demands; 

n higher capital costs due to specialisation;

n more defined pool of tenants to draw upon for leasing 
opportunities; and 

n increased importance of strategic positioning of 
healthcare businesses and associated infrastructure  
within the marketplace.

healthcare assets also have longer term leases than 
traditional property given:

n the higher specialisation and costs associated with 
healthcare facilities;

n an operator’s ability to develop long term goodwill 
at strategically positioned facilities;

n tenants forming synergistic relationships through 
co-location e.g. surgeons prefer to have their  
consulting rooms within the hospital they operate  
at for time efficiency; 

n tenants form strong professional relationships with each 
other in delivering integrated services for patient/customer 
convenience; and

n healthcare tenants have higher fitout costs which often results 
in a required longer lease period to recover these costs.

long term leases to quality healthcare tenants underpin 
predictable rental income, making the properties they  
occupy less exposed to economic cycles. 



www.ingrealestate.com.au 17

HeAltHcARe Reit totAl RetuRn coMPARison

source: NareIt
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HeAltHcARe PRoPeRty is RelAtively insulAteD  
FRoM econoMic DoWntuRns

the Fund’s properties are underpinned by long term leases, 
quality tenants, high occupancy, low tenant turnover and 
solid cashflows. with health being a “need not a want”,  
the result is that healthcare property as an investment is 
typically less volatile and more resistant to economic cycles 
than other traditional property types. this makes healthcare 
property an attractive risk adjusted asset class for investors.

International valuers cB richard ellis highlight the positives  
of health property values versus traditional asset classes 
during the recent Global Financial crisis as follows:

“ The private hospital investment market has seen few 
transactions during the past 12 months. Transactions 
that have occurred have shown weaker initial yield 
levels to those seen prior to this period. However the 
overall extent of the weakening seems to be less severe 
than with other investment property asset classes and 
it is apparent that modern private hospitals occupied 
by good operators are maintaining and even improving 
revenue, EBITDA and rental affordability performance 
at the current time.” 

 cB richard ellis, valuation & advisory services, 7 July 2009.

us HeAltH PRoPeRty PeRFoRMAnce

when seeking evidence of long term health property 
performance compared to other investment classes the us 
market provides a strong reference point. the us healthcare 
reIt market has been well established since the 1980s and 
currently has a market capitalisation of over us$22 billion. 
as can be seen in the graph below us healthcare reIts have 
outperformed traditional us reIts over the past decade as 
well as the us equity markets (NareIt equity and s&p 500). 
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Key DeMAnD DRiveRs oF tHe HeAltH sectoR

healthcare is and will continue to be an area of high growth 
and innovation with expenditure rising due to demands  
and changes in the following areas:

The ageing population 
an ageing population is a significant driver of demand for 
healthcare services and their facilities. the australian Bureau 
of statistics projects that the percentage of the population 
aged 65 years and over will increase by 46% from 2008 to 
2021. In addition to this growth expenditure by those aged 
65 years and over is approximately four times higher than 
expenditure by persons under 65 years, and this rises to up  
to nine times higher for the over 85 year age group. 

Technological innovation 
major advances in medical technology (in surgical procedures, 
diagnostics and pharmaceuticals) are continually occurring, 
resulting in increased costs for new technology and therefore 
increases in healthcare expenditure. New technologies 
facilitate more solutions and change in the way illnesses are 
detected/treated, leading to increasing demand for services 
and facilities that integrate these technologies. 

Increasing prevalence of non-age related diseases
there is an increasing prevalence in western societies  
of illnesses such as obesity, diabetes, mental disorders  
and allergies, along with viruses in broader societies  
(eg. sars, swine Flu), with the potential for new strains  
to develop in the future. 

Preventative care 
there is continuing and growing emphasis in the community 
toward preventative health care measures and an increasing 
responsiveness towards patient-focused outcomes which 
again will expand the level of and increase demand for 
healthcare services. 

Rising consumer expectations 
with increasing public access to information through  
the internet and media there is a corresponding increase 
in demand from consumers in the areas of service quality, 
availability, options and transparency.

Political agendas
health is increasingly a focus of the federal and state political 
agendas, given the increasing demands placed on healthcare 
services, funding requirements, its emotive nature and 
potential to drive votes. with an ever ageing population 
there will be further political pressure to respond to health 
issues via regulatory and funding changes. 
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healthcare market overview

AustRAliAn HeAltH exPenDituRe 

the australian health system is widely regarded as being 
world class, in terms of both its effectiveness and efficiency. 
the aim of the national health funding system is to give 
all australians, regardless of their personal circumstances, 
access to health care at an affordable cost or at no cost, 
while allowing choice for individuals through private sector 
involvement in delivery and financing.

healthcare in australia is a mixture of government supported 
programs and private sector enterprises. the Federal 
Government continues to promote an efficient public and 
private healthcare system that works together to deliver 
improving future outcomes in terms of increased service 
delivery and quality.

healthcare is currently australia’s second largest employer 
after retail, and on current growth trends, it will become 
australia’s single largest employer within the next few years.1 

total expenditure on australian healthcare in 2006-07 was 
$94 billion, representing 9% of gross domestic product 
(Gdp). health expenditure relates to health goods, services 
and capital investment (in health facilities and equipment).  
of the total health expenditure of $94 billion in the year 
ending 30 June 2007, public and private hospitals accounted 
for 36.2%. other major areas of health expenditure included 
medical practitioner services (17.8%) and pharmaceuticals 
(12.7%), with dental, health professional services 
(physiotherapy, chiropractic and podiatry) and other  
health services making up the balance.

health expenditure has more than doubled over the past four 
decades (from 4.1% of Gdp in 1960). this trend is expected 
to continue in the future. In australia, it is estimated that 
healthcare expenditure will consume 16% of Gdp by 2020.2 

the graph on the bottom left of the next page indicates  
the growth in health expenditure dollars and its growth  
as a percentage of Gdp between 1996 – 2007. 

the nominal growth rate in health expenditure between 
1996 and 2007 has been 8.4% per annum, whilst the  
real (excluding price inflation) growth rate has been  
4.9% per annum. 

health expenditure has increased from $42.1 billion in  
1996 to $94 billion in 2007. the $51.9 billion dollar increase 
can be attributed as follows:

n $21.5 billion (41%) – health inflation;
n $8.1 billion (16%) – population growth; and
n $22.3 billion (43%) – increase in real expenditure per person.

approximately 69% of the $94 billion overall health costs 
come from Federal, state and local Governments. the 
remaining 31% is made up of direct charges to patients, 
health insurance premiums and other non-tax sources. 

Between 1996 and 2007 the percentage allocation between 
these various sources has remained relatively steady (noting 
Government’s share of the expenditure has increased around 
3% over the period). 

as at 2006-07 the allocation was as follows:

Federal Government 43%

state and territory Government 26%

Individuals (private pay) 17%

health Insurance Funds 7%

other sources 7%

public and private hospitals are the main providers of health 
services in australia based on expenditure. as at June 2007 
there were 83,000 available hospital beds in australia, with 
67% being public beds and 33% being private beds. of the 
private hospital market around 60% is made up of ‘for-
profit’ operators (dominated by two major listed ‘for-profit’ 
operators, ramsay health care and healthscope, following 
a period of market consolidation) with the remaining 40% 
being largely ‘not-for-profit’ operators. 

1) aNZ health services Industry report, 29 July 2009.
2) healthcast 2020, pricewaterhouse coopers, 2005.
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totAl HeAltH exPenDituRe AnD gDP,  HeAltHcARe stocKs HAve outPeRFoRMeD 
cuRRent PRices, 1996–97 to 2006–07 tHe toP 200 Asx entities by 84%  

Recent goveRnMent initiAtives

to ease growth in health expenditure on the government 
purse, the Federal Government has encouraged people to 
enrol in private health insurance plans through various ‘carrot 
and stick’ initiatives (such as the medicare levy surcharge 
introduced in 1997, the medicare tax rebate introduced in 
1999 and the lifetime cover scheme introduced in 2000). 
these initiatives have seen the levels of privately insured rise 
from 32% in 1997 to 45% in 2008. 

In may 2009 the Federal Government released their budget 
which had further initiatives. these included bringing in 
sliding scale reductions to the 30% tax rebate (on private 
insurance) related to means testing and age, and also 
increasing the medicare surcharge from 1% to up to  
1.5% for higher income earners (who would also have  
the medicare rebate phased out at set income levels). 

the impacts on the private insurance market of the above 
proposed budget initiatives are yet to be fully known. 
however, it is anticipated that they would have little impact 
on insured levels.

the Federal Government has also established the  
National health and hospitals reform commission who  
in June 2009 released a detailed report with more than  
100 recommendations in terms of potential short and  
long term changes to the australian healthcare system.  
the Federal Government has announced they are  
considering the report’s recommendations. 

the proposed initiatives are largely aimed at driving 
efficiencies from the public healthcare spend.

PRivAte HeAltHcARe oPeRAtoR PeRFoRMAnce

major listed healthcare stocks have performed  
particularly well over the past 18 months, outperforming  
the s&p/asx-200 Index by 84% (see graph below).

Beyond Fy09 key listed healthcare operators are predicting 
steady ongoing growth in their businesses despite the 
current economic environment, due to the underlying 
demand supporting the health sector and ongoing business 
expansion. It is this strong performance of the private 
healthcare sector that underpins the ongoing performance  
of IhF’s health property assets.
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our people

Miles Wentworth

Chief Executive Officer 
miles has a finance and accounting background and has been working 
exclusively in the healthcare property sector for the past 13 years. he has a 
depth of experience in healthcare property transactions, developments and 
management. miles was previously chief executive for the now named ING 
medical properties trust, a New Zealand listed entity. as chief executive officer 
miles has overall responsibility for the Fund, with his direct areas of responsibility 
being capital and debt market requirements, finance and investor relations. 

Chris Adams

Director – Acquisitions and Developments
chris has a background in the property sector and has worked in australia, 
New Zealand and the united Kingdom. he has significant healthcare property 
experience having worked exclusively in this sector for over 14 years. his skills  
are in the area of health sector property acquisitions, transaction structuring, 
large scale hospital developments and portfolio management. chris is responsible 
for sourcing acquisitions and development projects, structuring, implementation 
and development management.

Neil dickson

Director – Investments and Risk
Neil has significant experience in the property sector having worked in the  
united Kingdom, New Zealand and australia with 15 years working specifically  
in the healthcare property field. his skills are in portfolio management,  
property investment, transaction due diligence, leasing and asset management. 
Neil is responsible for assessing the fund’s investments, along with portfolio  
and asset management. 

the above management have been with the Fund since 2006, its year of inception. 
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DiRectoR inFoRMAtion
1  Richard Colless AM
Independent Director and Chairman
Appointed 30 May 2002
richard is the chairman of the ING management limited 
Board. he has considerable experience in funds management 
and property sectors. he sits on a number of public and 
private company, sporting and government boards.

2  Philip Clark AM
Independent Director, Chairman of the Audit Committee
Appointed 21 February 2006
acting most recently as managing partner and ceo of  
minter ellison, philip has experience in a wide variety  
of sectors including: legal, funds management, property,  
and education. during his career philip led the successful 
growth and development of minter ellison and mallesons 
stephen Jaques, australia’s two largest law firms. philip  
also sits on a number of public and private boards.

3  Michael Easson AM
Independent Director
Appointed 11 November 2004
michael is co-founder and executive chairman of eG 
property Group. michael has a wealth of experience in 
high-level strategic consulting in both the private sector and 
government. michael also sits on a number of public and 
private boards.

4  Philip Redmond
Independent Director
Appointed 17 August 2006
philip has over 20 years experience in the real estate 
industry in australia, including 12 years at uBs where he 
held the position of managing director – head of real 
estate australasia. philip has played a leading role in the 
development of the listed property trust sector within 
australia and has a comprehensive understanding  
of financial markets.

5  Paul Scully
Independent Director, Chairman of the Board 
Compliance Committee
Appointed 30 May 2002
paul has over 30 years experience in investment management 
and many aspects of financial services. paul now maintains  
a portfolio of non-executive directorships and related 
activities, is a visiting lecturer at macquarie university and 
provides a broad range of consulting services.

Hugh Thomson
Company Secretary
Appointed 20 December 2002
hugh is the chief executive officer of ING real estate 
Investment management australia and is responsible for  
all property investment and funds management activities.  
hugh has over 20 years experience and has been with the 
company since 1997, having previously held the role of  
chief Financial officer.

hugh stepped down as chief executive officer effective  
1 september 2009.

Anna Wyke
Company Secretary
Appointed 31 May 2002
anna is the company secretary for ING real estate Investment 
management australia. anna is a practising solicitor and has 
been with the company for over 10 years. anna is responsible 
for the corporate governance functions as well as maintaining, 
promoting and instilling a high level of compliance awareness 
within the business.

anna resigned as company secretary effective 19 august 2009.

1 2 3 4 5
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this statement outlines the main corporate governance 
practices currently in place for ING management limited 
(Iml), the responsible entity of the ING real estate 
healthcare Fund (the Fund) and addresses the asx corporate 
Governance council corporate Governance principles and 
recommendations, 2nd edition and the extent of compliance 
with these recommendations. the Board of the responsible 
entity has followed all of the recommendations, except 
that it has not established a Nomination committee or a 
remuneration committee or other recommendations related 
to disclosure of remuneration or executive performance, for 
the reasons set out in this corporate Governance statement. 
a checklist of compliance against the recommendations is 
available on the ING real estate website.

constitution FoR ing ReAl estAte HeAltHcARe FunD

the corporate governance structure that has been 
established by Iml reflects its role as the responsible entity 
of a listed property trust, which is different to the corporate 
governance structure adopted for a listed company. Iml’s 
primary responsibility is to operate the Fund and perform 
functions conferred on it by the Fund constitution, the  
asx listing rules and corporations act 2001 (cth) (the law). 
most importantly, Iml must ensure it acts in the best interests 
of unitholders and ensure that the activities of the Fund are 
conducted in a proper and efficient manner.

the Fund is governed by a constitution dated 12 december 
2005, as amended. the Fund has been registered with the 
australian securities and Investments commission (asIc)  
as a managed investment scheme under chapter 5c of  
the corporations act.

the following is a summary of the key features of the 
constitution of the Fund.

Responsible Entity
as the responsible entity of the Fund, Iml is responsible 
to unitholders for its operation and owes duties under 
chapter 5c of the corporations act and also fiduciary duties 
as trustee of the Fund. Iml may retire as the responsible 
entity of the Fund if it complies with section 601Fl of 
the corporations act, and must retire when required by 
law. unitholders may remove Iml by complying with the 
procedures set out in section 601Fm of the corporations act.

Powers of the Responsible Entity
as the responsible entity, Iml has all the powers in respect 
of the Fund that it is possible under the law to confer on a 
trustee as though it were the absolute owner of the assets of 
the Fund. Iml may appoint a person, including an associate 
of Iml, as its delegate, attorney or agent to exercise its 
powers and perform its obligations. 

Remuneration of the Responsible Entity
Iml is entitled under the constitution to receive fees for 
acting as the responsible entity of the Fund and to be paid 
or reimbursed for certain expenses, out of the assets of  
the Fund, incurred by Iml in the proper performance of its 
duties in relation to the Fund.

Limitation on liability
subject to the corporations act, the liability of the 
responsible entity to a unitholder or any person in respect  
of the Fund is limited to Iml’s ability to be indemnified  
from the assets of the Fund.

Termination of the Fund
the Fund terminates on the earliest of:

n the date determined by the responsible entity in a notice 
given to unitholders as the date on which the Fund is  
to be terminated; and

n the date on which the Fund is terminated in accordance 
with the constitution or by law.

Beneficial interest in the Fund
the beneficial interest in the Fund is divided into units  
which may be fully or partly paid units.
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Issue of units
the power to issue units in the Fund is governed by  
the provisions of the corporations act, the constitution  
and the asx listing rules. 

Redemption
the constitution does not provide for the redemption  
of units while the Fund is listed.

Transfer of units
subject only to restrictions imposed by law, the constitution 
and the asx listing rules, units in the Fund may be transferred.

Stapling
the constitution provides for the stapling of a unit to a share 
in a company or a unit in a trust.

distribution of income
the distributable income of the Fund is determined by the 
responsible entity and allocated to unitholders in accordance 
with the constitution.

Meeting of unitholders
every unitholder is entitled to receive notices of unitholder 
meetings, to attend those meetings and subject to certain 
restrictions on voting by interested parties, to vote at  
those meetings.

Amendments
subject to the corporations act, the responsible entity  
may by deed amend the constitution.

coMPliAnce PlAn AnD coMPliAnce coMMittee

under the corporations act, the responsible entity  
is required to register a compliance plan with asIc.  
the compliance plan for the Fund describes the  
procedures that the responsible entity will apply in  
operating the Fund to ensure compliance with the 
corporations act and the constitution.

a Board compliance committee has been established and 
is responsible for monitoring Iml’s compliance with the 
compliance plan and report on its findings to the Board. 
Further details are provided in 7.2.

Role oF boARD AnD MAnAgeMent

1.1 Role of the Board
ING management limited (Iml) is wholly owned by  
ING real estate. Iml has a board charter which details the 
functions and responsibilities of the Board and management. 
a copy of the Board charter is available on ING real estate’s 
website. Iml’s activities are confined almost exclusively  
to managing real estate based investment funds in its role  
as responsible entity.

ING real estate is responsible for providing the resources, 
including experienced and skilled staff, to enable Iml  
to appropriately and adequately conduct its funds 
management operations and to administer its affairs.

the Board of Iml oversees these activities and provides 
strategic guidance.

Key responsibilities of the Board include:

n assisting ING real estate in determining the composition 
and structure of the Iml Board;

n reviewing the performance of management, including 
the ceo and the adequacy of resources allocated by  
ING real estate to Iml;

n providing input into and final approval of management’s 
strategy and performance objectives for the Funds;

n reviewing and if appropriate approving significant transactions;

n overseeing the administration of Iml, including risk 
and compliance monitoring functions;

n reviewing the appropriateness of management’s risk 
management processes;

n reviewing Iml’s code of conduct, unitholder 
communications procedures and continuous disclosure 
policy annually; and

n establishing various formal committees to assist 
in discharging its responsibilities, e.g. compliance  
and audit committees.
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1.2 Role of Management
management is responsible for all matters not specifically 
the responsibility of the Board and is responsible for 
implementing the strategy and performance objectives  
of the Fund and the day to day operations of the Fund.

boARD stRuctuRe

2.1 Structure of the Board
the constitution of Iml provides for a minimum  
of three directors and not more than 12 directors.  
as at 30 June 2009, the Board comprised five  
independent directors.

Directors’ appointment and selection
the Board’s policy and procedure for selection and 
appointment of directors is included in the Board  
charter. directors are appointed by the sole shareholder  
ING real estate, with the aim of ensuring the Board has:

n an appropriate range of skills, experience and expertise;

n a proper understanding of, and competence to deal with 
current and emerging issues in real estate and the funds 
management industry;

n the ability to effectively review and challenge the 
performance of management and exercise independent 
judgement; and

n a majority of independent directors.

the Board assists ING real estate in the process of appointing 
new directors by recommending and reviewing candidates 
when vacancies arise and by performing an annual review that 
covers, amongst other matters, the adequacy of the Board’s 
composition and the independence of existing directors.

directors are appointed pursuant to formal letters of 
appointment setting out the key terms and conditions 
of the appointment to ensure they understand their key 
responsibilities and the Board’s expectations. the tenure of 
each director is determined by ING real estate, and for all 
directors is until 31 december 2009.

Board meetings
there are 11 scheduled Board meetings each year.

the agenda for each meeting is prepared by the company 
secretary in conjunction with the chairman and ceo.

2.2 director Independence
as at 30 June 2009, all the directors of the Iml Board  
were independent.

Iml has adopted the following procedures for assessing  
the independence of each director, with the aim of ensuring 
that the majority of the Iml Board remains independent.

Test for independence
the procedures in place for determining independence 
is whether the director is independent of management 
and free of any business or other relationship that could 
materially interfere with, or could reasonably be perceived  
to materially interfere with, the exercise of their unfettered 
and independent judgement.

Materiality
the Iml Board has determined that where an assessment 
of materiality is required to determine whether a director is 
independent, this will be determined on a case by case basis 
taking into account all of the facts available at the time.

Annual performance reviews
the Iml Board assesses directors’ independence annually in 
conjunction with the Board’s annual performance evaluation 
and a review of their register of interests and directorships.

Disclosure of directors who are independent
those directors who are assessed to be independent are 
identified in the corporate Governance section of the  
annual report. In the event an existing director is assessed  
to no longer be independent, Iml on behalf of the Fund  
will disclose this fact to the asx as soon as practicable after 
the assessment has been made.

Independent decision making
directors of the Board have individually and collectively the 
right to seek independent professional advice on matters 
relating to the Fund, including matters relating to the 
discharge of its obligations under a Fund’s constitution and 
the law, the cost of which may be borne by Iml, or where 
permitted, the Fund.

directors must notify the company secretary if they are 
seeking independent professional advice, and as soon as 
possible provide an estimate of the likely cost.
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Conflicts of Interest & Directors’ Standing Notice Register
directors owe a duty to avoid any conflicts of interest that 
may arise. a conflict may arise through a personal interest  
or a duty to some third party.

therefore, if faced with a possible conflict of interest i.e.  
a material personal interest in a matter, the director should 
make full disclosure to the directors meeting as soon as 
possible or contact the company secretary.

register of interests are maintained for each director and all 
directors are required to disclose any personal interests. the 
Board then considers the register provided and decides on 
a collective basis whether the personal interest is material 
or not i.e. whether in the Board’s opinion a reasonable 
disinterested party would be considered likely to take it into 
account in exercising judgement or making a decision. this is 
noted on the directors’ standing Notice register and forms a 
permanent agenda item at all Board meetings.

In the event a conflict or potential conflict situation exists, the 
conflicted director is absent from the meeting whilst the Board 
discusses the matter and may not vote on the matter, unless 
the other directors, who do not have a material personal 
interest in the matter, are satisfied that the interest should not 
disqualify the director from voting or being present.

2.3 Role of the Chair
the role of the chairman and ceo are not exercised by the 
same individual.

ING real estate has appointed an independent chairman,  
mr richard colless. In selecting the chairman, due 
consideration has been given to their expertise and skills  
to ensure they complement those of the existing Board  
as well as reputation and standing in the market.

2.4 Board Nomination and Remuneration Committee

Nomination Committee
the existing size of the Board and the frequency of Board 
meetings are such that the Board’s role in assisting in the 
appointment process can be undertaken in an efficient 
manner by the Board itself, without the need for a separate 
Nomination committee.

Remuneration Committee
the fees of the directors of Iml and the remuneration  
of its staff are determined and paid by ING real estate  
and not by the Fund itself. For this reason no remuneration 
committee has been established.

the remuneration of Iml in its capacity as responsible entity 
during the year was regulated by the Fund’s constitution. 
the company has only a right to be paid a fee or reimbursed 
an expense from the Fund in relation to the proper 
performance of its duties.

Executive performance and remuneration
as stated above, ING real estate, and not the Fund itself, 
is responsible for remuneration and performance of any 
staff. however, the Board is responsible for reviewing the 
adequacy of the resources, including remuneration and 
incentive structures for key executives, and for making any 
recommendations to ING real estate it feels necessary.  
this process has been followed during the year.

associates of Iml are entitled to fees for the provision 
of property management, development and project 
management services to the Fund’s properties. Formal 
arm’s length agreements are in place to regulate these 
arrangements and these fees are based on normal 
commercial terms. the fees paid for these services are  
set out in the Financial report of the Fund.

2.5 Board education and performance evaluation
Iml undertakes a review of the Board’s performance annually, 
covering amongst other matters the adequacy of the Board’s 
composition and the independence of existing directors. 
the last performance evaluation was undertaken in the first 
quarter of 2009.

the Board performance evaluation is conducted by way  
of a questionnaire that assesses:

n the performance of the Board and each of its committees 
against the requirements of their respective charters;

n the individual performance of the chairman and each 
director; and

n the procedures in place for dealing with the responsible 
entity’s continuous disclosure obligations under the 
corporations act and the asx listing rules, as well  
as compliance and corporate governance procedures.

the questionnaire is completed by each director and the 
responses collated. the results of the questionnaire are 
provided to all directors for discussion at the Board meetings.
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Board education and strategy days
directors have the opportunity to visit the Fund’s 
properties and to meet with management to gain a better 
understanding of the Fund’s operations. the Board also 
conducts Fund strategy days to inform directors about 
current issues concerning the Fund and corporate strategies.

PRoMoting ResPonsible AnD etHicAl beHAviouR

3.1 Code of Conduct
ING real estate has established a code of conduct which 
outlines acceptable standards of behaviour and attitudes 
expected from staff to promote and maintain the confidence 
and trust of all those dealing with ING real estate.  
the code of conduct covers amongst other matters:

n Insider trading
n personal conduct
n dealing with conflict of interests
n whistleblower procedures
n privacy
n environment

In accordance with the whistleblower procedures set out in 
the ING real estate whistleblower policy, staff are expected 
to report any serious issues and these will be investigated 
fairly. Individuals who report serious issues in good faith are 
appropriately protected. a copy of Iml’s code of conduct  
is available on ING real estate’s website.

3.2 Personal Trading Policy
a personal trading policy is in place setting out the approval 
procedures to be followed by all ING real estate staff 
members and directors wishing to buy or sell securities in the 
Fund and other listed real estate units in order to satisfy the 
relevant legal requirements and protect the reputation and 
integrity of ING real estate.

any director wishing to purchase or sell units in ING 
real estate listed Funds is required to notify the Board 
compliance committee chairman (or in his absence the 
chairman of Board) prior to the trade taking place.

at the commencement of employment each staff member/
director must sign a declaration that he/she will abide  
by the policy.

an extract of the personal trading policy for directors and 
staff is available on the ING real estate website in the  
code of conduct section.

FinAnciAl RePoRting

4.1 Review and authorisation
In accordance with section 295a of the corporations act,  
the ceo and cFo have declared in writing to the Board that 
the financial records of the Fund for the financial year have 
been properly maintained in accordance with section 286  
of the corporations act and the Fund’s financial reports 
present a true and fair view of the Fund’s financial position 
and performance and are in accordance with relevant 
accounting standards.

4.2 Board Audit Committee and Charter
the audit committee operates under a Board approved 
charter which is available in the corporate governance 
section of the ING real estate website.

the purpose of the Board audit committee is to verify  
and safeguard the integrity of the Fund’s financial reporting, 
oversee the independence of the external auditors and 
maintain the internal control framework.

the committee consists of three members, all of which  
are non-executive directors, with an independent chairman,  
who is not the chairman of the Board. the membership 
includes at least one member who has financial expertise, 
and some members who have an understanding of the 
property funds management industry.

as at 30 June 2009, the members of the audit committee 
comprised philip clark (chairman), richard colless and 
michael easson. Nine meetings were held during the year.

4.3 External audit firm guidelines
the Board audit committee is responsible for recommending 
the initial appointment of the external auditor, the 
appointment of a new external auditor when any vacancy 
arises and removal of external auditors. the audit committee 
is also responsible for maintaining procedures for the rotation 
of the external audit engagement partner.

under the audit committee charter, the external audit 
engagement partner must be rotated every five years and the 
statutory Fund audit must be tendered at least every seven years.

the Fund’s statutory and compliance plan audit was put out 
to tender in 2007 and following careful consideration of all 
the proposals and recommendations from the audit sub 
committee, the Board appointed ernst & young as the Fund’s 
Financial & compliance plan auditor for the year ended  
30 June 2008. the next tender process will take place in 2012.
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continuous DisclosuRe

5.1 Continuous disclosure
as the responsible entity of listed funds, Iml must comply 
with the continuous disclosure provisions of the asx  
listing rules.

Broadly, Iml is required to immediately notify the asx of  
any information concerning the Fund of which it is or 
becomes aware, which a reasonable person would expect  
to have a material effect on the price or value of units in  
the Fund, subject to certain limited exceptions including  
but not limited to confidential information.

Iml has established a written policy document that deals with:

n information that needs to be disclosed to the market;

n our responsibility for responding to market rumours or 
speculation;

n communications with analysts and major investor; and

n procedures for dealing with the media.

the company secretary has been appointed as the person 
responsible for communications with the asx. this person is 
also responsible for ensuring compliance with the continuous 
disclosure requirements in the asx listing rules and 
overseeing and coordinating information disclosure to the 
asx, analysts, brokers, unitholders, media and the public.

investoR coMMunicAtions

6.1 Unitholder meetings
Iml may convene a unitholder meeting during the year  
at a time and place that is considered convenient for the 
majority of its unitholders.

the Fund will place a copy of the most recent notice of 
meeting and any accompanying explanatory memorandum 
on its website, when released to the asx, under the asx 
announcements section.

the chairman at the unitholder meeting ensures that  
a reasonable opportunity exists for unitholders to ask 
questions relating to the operations of the Fund and if 
applicable the resolutions being voted on.

unitholders are encouraged to attend all unitholder meetings.

Audit attendance at unitholder meetings
If the responsible entity convenes a unitholder meeting, 
the company secretary will request the external auditor 
or a qualified representative of the auditor to attend the 
unitholder meeting and be available to answer any investor 
questions about the conduct of the audit, the auditor’s 
independence, accounting policies, and the preparation  
and content of the auditor’s report.

6.2 Communication with unitholders
the asx corporate Governance guidelines state that listed 
entities must respect the rights of unitholders and facilitate 
the effective exercise of those rights.

this means the listed entity should have procedures in  
place for communicating with its unitholders, give them 
access to balanced and understandable information about 
the listed entity and make it easy for them to participate  
in unitholder meetings.

the Fund has procedures in place to ensure that all 
unitholders and other interested stakeholders have access to 
balanced, understandable and timely information concerning 
the operations of the Fund.

the company secretary, in conjunction with the Investor 
services manager and ceo, is primarily responsible for 
ensuring communications with unitholders are delivered  
in accordance with these procedures and the guidelines 
relating to continuous disclosure.

In addition to the formal requirements of half year and 
annual financial statements, the Fund aims to keep 
unitholders informed about new developments within  
the Fund by making copies of all asx announcements  
and presentations available on the ING real estate website, 
circulating Fund updates and encouraging participation  
of unitholders to attend the unitholder meetings.

Further details on unitholder communication procedures 
may be obtained by accessing the ING real estate website at 
www.ingrealestate.com.au

the website provides information specific to each Fund, as well 
as information relevant to existing or prospective unitholders.
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this website is continually updated and contains recent 
announcements, webcasts, presentations, past and current 
reports to unitholders and answers to frequently asked 
questions. analyst and investor roadshow presentations 
released to the asx are included on the website.

the website also contains:

n a corporate overview on ING real estate;
n Iml’s corporate governance policies;
n profiles of senior management and Iml’s Board; and
n other relevant corporate information.

RisK MAnAgeMent AnD coMPliAnce PRoceDuRes

7.1 Risk management framework
the Board and management recognise that having a  
well developed system in place for risk management is 
an integral part of good management practice. ING real 
estate actively promotes a culture of compliance and risk 
management awareness with the aim of ensuring all activities 
comply with laws, regulations, codes and in-house policies 
and procedures.

an operational and risk management committee (ormc) 
has been established, made up of key management 
executives, with the objective of promoting and facilitating 
the development of effective risk management processes.

the ormc meets regularly and assists the Board by 
identifying, measuring and monitoring key risks affecting 
ING real estate and the Funds, as well as taking appropriate 
action to control and mitigate the level of risks.

In line with the ING Group guidelines, Integrated risk 
assessments (Ira) sessions are held at the ormc meetings. 
the purpose of the Ira sessions are:

n to identify key risks that could lead to an operational loss;

n assess the risk and identify any risk exposures; and

n put in place appropriate mitigation measures to address 
the risks including developing adequate procedures.

the key risks identified through the Ira workshops are 
primarily risks associated with managing property as well as 
risks arising from the general business environment including, 
but not limited to, general market, capital management, 
financial reporting, operational and compliance risks. 
through the ormc, management puts in place adequate 
internal controls including specific policies and procedure 
manuals that are in sufficient detail for individual staff 
members to refer to in performing their daily duties.

Compliance Plan
the Fund has a formal compliance plan in place which  
is lodged upon registration of the scheme with asIc.  
the purpose of the compliance plan is to set out key 
processes, systems and measures the responsible entity  
will apply to ensure compliance with:

n the corporations act (cth) 2001;
n constitution of the Fund;
n industry practice standards relevant to the Fund; and
n internal policies and procedures.

the compliance plan is a “how to” document and has been 
prepared following a structured and systematic process 
to consider the responsible entity’s key obligations under 
the act and constitution, the risk of non-compliance and 
measures required to meet the risks of non-compliance.

the compliance plan describes the key obligations that 
must be met by the responsible entity, the measures in 
place to comply with these obligations and how compliance 
with these measures will be monitored. In addition, the 
compliance plan details the risk of not complying with  
these obligations, and how breaches are to be reported  
and addressed.

each year ernst & young conducts an annual compliance 
plan audit and reports to asIc on:

n whether the procedures and controls set out in the 
compliance plan sufficiently address the requirements  
of the act; and

n if the controls and procedures described in the 
compliance plan have been in place and operating 
effectively over the year.
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Risk management review and reporting to the Board 
and its Committees
the ormc reports to the Board and its committees regularly 
on the effectiveness of the management of material business 
risks and the Board undertakes a review annually on whether 
management’s risk management processes and internal 
controls are appropriate, including whether management’s 
procedures for monitoring the effectiveness of the risk 
management processes are adequate.

the ceo and the cFo confirm in writing to the Board,  
at the time the financial statements are being considered  
for approval by the Board, that in all material respects:

n the financial statements present a true and fair view;

n that this assertion is founded on a sound system of 
financial risk management and internal compliance and 
control which implements the policies adopted by the 
Board; and

n that the Fund’s financial risk management and internal 
compliance and control systems are operating efficiently 
and effectively in all material respects in relation to financial 
reporting risks.

7.2 Board Compliance Committee
the Board places a strong emphasis on compliance and has 
established a compliance committee that operates under  
an approved charter.

under the managed investments regime, the responsible 
entity is required to register a compliance plan with asIc. 
the compliance plan outlines the measures which are to  
be applied by the responsible entity to ensure compliance 
with the corporations act and the Fund’s constitution.

the compliance committee is responsible for:

n monitoring the responsible entity’s compliance with 
the compliance plan and reporting on its findings  
to the Board; and

n assessing at regular intervals whether the Fund’s 
compliance plan is adequate to ensure compliance with 
the law and the Fund’s constitution, and to monitor  
the extent to which the responsible entity complies  
with the Fund’s compliance plan.

as at 30 June 2009 the members of the compliance 
committee comprised paul scully (chairman), richard colless 
and hugh thomson. Four meetings were held during the 
year. the compliance committee reports to the Board after 
each meeting and otherwise as required.

sustAinAbility

8.1 Board Sustainability Committee
the Board recognises that a sustainable future for its business 
depends upon the environmental sustainability of the 
communities, economies and societies in which it operates. 
as such the Board has established a Board sustainability 
committee to address sustainability issues for the Funds.

as at 30 June 2009 the members of the sustainability 
committee comprised paul scully (chairman), richard colless 
and hugh thomson. three meetings were held during the 
year. the sustainability committee reports to the Board after 
each meeting and otherwise as required.

coRPoRAte goveRnAnce DocuMents

In accordance with the asx corporate Governance 
Guidelines, the following documents are available in the 
corporate governance section of the ING real estate website:

n Board charter
n Board compliance committee charter
n Board audit committee charter
n code of conduct
n unitholder communications procedures
n Iml company constitution
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RelAtionsHiP oF tHe concise FinAnciAl RePoRt to tHe Full FinAnciAl RePoRt

the concise financial report is an extract from the full financial report for the year ended 30 June 2009. 
the financial statements and specific disclosures included in the concise financial report have been 
derived from the full financial report.

the concise financial report cannot be expected to provide as full an understanding of the financial performance, 
financial position and financing and investing activities of the Fund and its subsidiaries as the full financial report. 
Further financial information can be obtained from the full financial report.

the full financial report and auditor’s report will be sent to unitholders on request, free of charge. 
please call (02) 9033 1035 (from outside australia: +61 2 9033 1035) and a copy will be forwarded to you. 
alternatively, you can access both the full financial report and the concise financial report via the internet at 
our website: www.ingrealestate.com.au
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ING management limited, the responsible entity of the ING real estate healthcare Fund (the “Fund”), presents its report 
together with the Fund’s financial report for the year ended 30 June 2009 and the auditor’s report thereon.

directors
the directors of the responsible entity at any time during or since the end of the financial year were:

richard colless am chairman
philip clark am
michael easson am
philip redmond
paul scully
david Blight resigned 1 december 2008
hugh thomson alternate director for david Blight – ceased 1 december 2008
adrian astridge alternate director for david Blight – ceased 1 december 2008

except as stated, these persons were directors of the responsible entity during the whole of the financial year and 
up to the date of this report.

Principal activity
the principal activity of the Fund is investment in healthcare real estate. there was no significant change in the nature 
of the Fund’s activities during the financial year.

Review and results of operations
a summary of the Fund’s result for the financial year is:

 consolidated

  2009 2008

Net profit/(loss) attributable to unitholders of the Fund ($’000) (4,377) 15,965
Net operating income ($’000) 5,482 5,093
distributions per unit (cents) 8.7 8.7
earnings per unit – basic and diluted (cents) (8.7) 32.0
Net operating income per unit (cents) 10.9 10.2

the responsible entity uses the Fund’s net operating income as a guide to the level of distributions to be paid to unitholders. 
Net operating income does not take into account certain items recognised in the income statement including unrealised gains 
or losses on the revaluation of the Fund’s properties and derivatives.



www.ingrealestate.com.au 35

Net operating income for the financial year has been calculated as follows:

 consolidated

  2009 2008
  $’000 $’000

Net profit/(loss) attributable to unitholders of the Fund (4,377) 15,965
adjusted for:
– straight line lease revenue recognition (1,100) (449)
– Net (gain)/loss on change in fair value of:

– Investment properties (3,157) (7,775)
– derivatives 8,921 (2,878)
– Investment properties included in share of net profit of equity accounted investments 357 1,270

– share of gain on change in fair value of investment property payable to lessee 4,838 —
– Gain on finance lease granted — (1,026)
– provision for performance fee — (14)

Net operating income 5,482 5,093

Net operating income for the 2009 financial year increased by 7.6% to $5,482,000 from $5,093,000 for the 2008 financial year. 
the increase is mainly due to a full year’s net property income from the australian red cross Blood service Facility and Frankston 
private hospital, partially offset by increased interest expense.

Net operating income per unit for the 2009 financial year was up 6.9% to 10.9 cents, compared to 10.2 cents per  
unit previously.

earnings per unit as calculated under applicable accounting standards for the year ended 30 June 2009 were down 127%  
to a loss of 8.7 cents, compared to a profit of 32.0 cents per unit for the previous financial year. revaluations accounted  
for 42.4 cents per unit of the change.

total assets decreased by $2,550,000 or 1.2% to $207,660,000 over the year primarily due to devaluations of derivatives 
partially offset by investment properties revaluation increases, which totalled a net decrease of $2,319,000. the basis  
of the valuations is described in note 3 in the concise financial report.

Net asset value per unit fell 15% to $1.10.

a total of $740,000 of new equity (after costs) was raised during the year. as a result, issued units increased by 1,230,000  
to 51,105,000.

distributions
details of distributions are given in note 4 in the concise financial report.

Significant changes in the state of affairs
In the opinion of the directors of the responsible entity, there were no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Fund  
that occurred during the financial year.

Events subsequent to reporting date
the Fund has announced a unit purchase plan, providing an opportunity for unitholders to increase their investment in the Fund. 
the units will be offered at a 7.5% discount to the lower of the volume weighted average price (vwap) of the Fund’s units 
trading during the five business days up to and including 27 august 2009 or the five day vwap ending on 30 september 2009.
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apart from this, there has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report any matter 
or circumstance that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect, the operations of the Fund, the results of those 
operations, or the state of affairs of the Fund, in future financial years.

Likely developments
the responsible entity will continue to actively manage the existing portfolio and may dispose of assets to maximise returns  
to unitholders and as part of its capital management strategy. New acquisitions will be considered on the relative value they  
may add to the Fund. where appropriate, the Fund may raise additional equity as part of its capital management strategy  
and to fund new acquisitions.

Environmental regulation
the Fund’s operations are not subject to any particular and significant environmental regulation under a law of the 
commonwealth or of a state or territory.

Indemnities
the Fund has not indemnified, nor paid any insurance premiums for, a person who is or has been an officer  
of the responsible entity or an auditor of the Fund.

Interests of directors of the Responsible Entity
units in the Fund held by directors of the responsible entity as at 30 June 2009 were:

   Number of units

paul scully  9,230

the other directors of the responsible entity did not hold any units in the Fund at that date.

Other information
Fees paid to the responsible entity and its associates, and the number of units in the Fund held by the responsible entity  
and its associates as at the end of the financial year, are set out in note 9 in the concise financial report.

Auditor’s independence declaration
a copy of the auditor’s independence declaration as required under section 307c of the corporations act 2001 is set out  
on page 37.

Rounding of amounts
the Fund is of a kind referred to in class order 98/100, issued by the australian securities and Investments commission,  
relating to the ‘’rounding off’’ of amounts in this report and in the financial report. amounts in these reports have been rounded 
off in accordance with that class order to the nearest thousand dollars, unless otherwise stated.

signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors of the responsible entity.

Richard Colless AM
chairman

sydney 
28 august 2009
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  Liability limited by a scheme approved 
under Professional Standards Legislation 

 

 
  

  

Auditor’s Independence Declaration to the Directors of ING Management 
Limited as Responsible Entity for the ING Real Estate Healthcare Fund 
 
In relation to our audit of the concise financial report of the ING Real Estate Healthcare Fund and its 
controlled entities for the year ended 30 June 2009, to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have 
been no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 or any 
applicable code of professional conduct. 
 

 

Ernst & Young 

 
Douglas Bain 
Partner 
Sydney 
28 August 2009 
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 consolidated

  2009 2008
  $’000 $’000

Revenue
rental income 15,988 11,817
other property income 1,920 1,112
Interest income 948 389

  18,856 13,318

Other income
Net gain/(loss) on change in fair value of:
– Investment properties 3,157 7,775
– derivatives (8,921) 2,878
Gain on finance lease granted — 1,026

Expenses
property expenses (3,533) (2,258)
Finance costs (8,752) (5,731)
responsible entity’s fees (990) (560)
share of investment property gain payable to lessee (4,838) —
other (382) (323)

share of net profit/(loss) of equity accounted investments 1,026 (160)

Net profit/(loss) attributable to unitholders of the Fund (4,377) 15,965

  cents cents

distributions per unit (note 4) 8.70 8.70
earnings per unit – basic and diluted (note 6) (8.7) 32.0
Net operating income per unit (note 6) 10.9 10.2

Income statement
year ended 30 June 2009



www.ingrealestate.com.au 39

 consolidated

  2009 2008
  $’000 $’000

Current assets
cash and cash equivalents 346 2,744
trade and other receivables 1,274 993
derivatives 180 5,656

  1,800 9,393

Non-current assets
trade and other receivables 13,521 13,155
Investment properties 177,357 172,369
equity accounted investments 14,982 15,293

  205,860 200,817

Total assets 207,660 210,210

Current liabilities
payables 6,339 7,876
Borrowings 93,543 17,450
derivatives 3,445 —
provision for distribution 2,223 2,170

  105,550 27,496

Non-current liabilities
payables 4,838 —
Borrowings 41,169 118,565

  46,007 118,565

Total liabilities 151,557 146,061

Net assets 56,103 64,149

Unitholders’ interest
Issued units 49,954 49,214
retained earnings 6,149 14,935

Total unitholders’ interest 56,103 64,149

Net asset value per unit $1.10 $1.29

Balance sheet
as at 30 June 2009
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 consolidated

  2009 2008
  $’000 $’000

Cash flows from operating activities
rental and other property income 18,541 14,698
Initial receipt under finance lease receivable — 21,405
lease payments received 571 121
property and other expenses (4,621) (3,246)
distributions received from equity accounted investments 1,185 970
Interest received 60 165
payments for work in progress — (18,912)
Borrowing costs paid (9,261) (4,939)
Goods and services taxes recovered from/ (paid from) investing and financing activities (1,060) 2,918

  5,415 13,180

Cash flows from investing activities
purchase of and additions to investment properties and properties under construction (2,558) (37,599)
purchase of equity accounted investment (70) (16,353)

  (2,628) (53,952)

Cash flows from financing activities
unit issue costs (18) (45)
distributions to unitholders (3,843) (4,264)
proceeds from borrowings 7,076 117,812
repayment of borrowings (8,400) (72,143)

  (5,185) 41,360

Net increase/(decrease) in cash (2,398) 588
cash at the beginning of the year 2,744 2,156

Cash at the end of the year 346 2,744

cash Flow statement
year ended 30 June 2009



www.ingrealestate.com.au 41

 consolidated

  2009 2008
  $’000 $’000

Total unitholders’ interest at the beginning of the year 64,149 52,564

Net profit/(loss) for the year (4,377) 15,965

Total recognised income and expense for the year (4,377) 15,965

transactions with unitholders in their capacity as equity holders:
– Issue of units 740 (41)
– distributions paid or payable (4,409) (4,339)

  (3,669) (4,380)

Total unitholders’ interest at the end of the year 56,103 64,149

total recognised income and expense for the year is attributable to:
– unitholders of the parent (4,377) 15,965

statement of changes in unitholders’ Interest
year ended 30 June 2009
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1. incoMe stAteMent

total revenue for the 2009 financial year increased by 42% 
to $18,856,000 from $13,318,000 for the 2008 financial 
year. this resulted mainly from a full 12 months revenue 
from the australian red cross Blood service (arcBs) facility, 
compared to 2.5 months in 2008, together with rent 
increases from the other properties in the portfolio. high 
levels of occupancy have been maintained throughout the 
year with an occupancy level of 98.7% at June 2009.

Normal operating expenses for the year totalled 
$13,657,000, an increase of $4,785,000 on the previous 
financial year, predominately as a result of increased finance 
and property expenses from the full year’s operation of  
the arcBs facility.

Net operating income for the 2009 financial year increased 
by 7.6% to $5,482,000 from $5,093,000 for the 2008 
financial year.

Net profit for the year as calculated under applicable 
accounting standards was down 127% to a loss of 
$4,377,000, compared to a profit of $15,965,000 for the 
previous financial year. the primary reason for this was a 
non-cash net revaluation loss on interest rate derivative 
contracts and on investment properties after allowing  
for a share of a revaluation gain payable to a lessee.

2. bAlAnce sHeet

total assets declined by $2,550,000 to $207,660,000 
primarily as a result of:

>  an interest rate derivative asset of $5,656,000 in 2008 
being restated to a liability in 2009;

> a decrease in cash of $2,398,000; partially offset by

>  investment properties increasing over the 2009 financial 
year by $4,988,000 following net revaluation gains  
and expenditure on minor capital works.

the net asset value per unit was $1.10 at 30 June 2009 
down from $1.29 in 2008. this was predominantly 
attributable to a net revaluation loss on investment properties 
(after allowing for a share of a revaluation gain payable  
to a lessee) and interest rate derivatives.

3. cAsHFloW stAteMent

cashflows from operating activities totalled $5,415,000 
for the year. the reduction was mainly due to increased 
borrowing costs and the upfront receipt in 2008 under  
the main lease of the arcBs facility (net of expenditure  
on the construction of that portion of the facility), partially 
offset by a full year’s contribution from the arcBs facility 
and Frankston private hospital.

cash spent on investing activities during the 2009 financial 
year included the completion of works at the arcBs facility, 
suite refurbishments at epworth Freemasons, victoria parade 
and other minor capital works.

there was a reduction in cash paid out for distributions 
for the 2009 financial year due to the introduction of the 
distribution reinvestment plan and there was a small net cash 
repayment on borrowings for the year.

4.  stAteMent oF cHAnges in 
unitHolDeRs’ inteRests

the decrease in total unitholders’ interest of $8,046,000 
in the 2009 financial year was mainly attributable to the 
decrease in the fair value of interest rate derivatives and the 
net property valuation decrease after allowing for a share of 
revaluation gain payable to a lessee. Issued units increased 
by $740,000 with the introduction of the distribution 
reinvestment plan and the issue of units to the manager  
as partial consideration for asset management fees.

discussion and analysis
of the FInancial statements
year ended 30 June 2009
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note 1. bAsis oF PRePARAtion

the concise financial report has been prepared in accordance 
with the Corporations Act 2001, accounting standard 
aasB 1039 Concise Financial Reports and applicable 
australian Interpretations. the financial statements and 
specific disclosures required by aasB 1039 have been 
derived from the Fund’s full financial report for the financial 
year. other information included in the concise financial 
report is consistent with the Fund’s full financial report. the 
concise financial report does not provide, and cannot be 
expected to provide, as full an understanding of the financial 
performance, financial position and financing and investing 
activities of the Fund as the full financial report.

the financial reports are prepared on the historical cost basis 
except that investment properties and derivative financial 
instruments are stated at their fair value. these accounting 
policies have been consistently applied to all years presented. 
a full description of the accounting policies adopted by the 
Fund may be found in its full financial report in note 1.

the concise financial report is presented in australian dollars.

note 2. going conceRn

at 30 June 2009, the amount drawn under the Group’s bank 
facilities was $134,875,000. as at 28 august 2009, that 
amount had increased to $136,535,000. $95,335,000 of this 
debt is due for repayment in February 2010 and is secured by 
mortgages over most of the Group’s investment properties 
and its equity accounted investment. the remaining 
$41,169,000 is due for repayment on 24 april 2011.

the net fair value of liabilities under related interest rate 
derivative agreements at 30 June 2009 was $3,265,000. 
payments under these agreements extend to 10 april 2018, 
but may be accelerated in the circumstances described below.

the Fund’s lead bank provides $62,850,000 of the total 
facility limits of $95,850,000 that expire in February 2010. 
terms have been agreed with this lead bank for new 
facilities of the same amount to replace those expiring in 
February 2010. discussions with the other provider of those 
expiring facilities are well advanced for a renewal. however, 
the Group’s ability to refinance the bank debt expiring 
in February 2010 on or before that date remains partly 
dependent on future market conditions including the state  
of credit markets, real estate markets and interest rates.  
the Fund may be able to reduce the amount of the debt to 
be refinanced by asset sales or by a capital raising. however, 
there can be no assurance that these could be achieved.

If this debt was not refinanced on or before its expiry, the 
banks concerned would have the right to require immediate 
repayment of the debt and settlement of the related 
derivatives. If the banks exercised that right, it is likely that 
assets would not be realised, and liabilities would not be 
discharged, in the ordinary course of business.

compliance with any revised facility agreements is also 
dependent on future market conditions including fair 
values of investment properties and interest rates. If a 
breach occurred and was not waived or rectified, the banks 
concerned would have the right to require immediate 
repayment of the debt and settlement of the related 
derivatives. If the banks exercised that right, it is likely that 
assets would not be realised, and liabilities would not be 
discharged, in the ordinary course of business.

despite these matters, the directors have concluded that  
there are reasonable grounds to believe that the going 
concern basis is appropriate.

note 3. bAsis oF vAluAtion oF non-cuRRent Assets

a) Investment properties
land and buildings have the function of an investment 
and are regarded as composite assets. In accordance with 
applicable accounting standards, the buildings, including 
plant & equipment, are not depreciated.

It is the Fund’s policy to have all investment properties 
externally valued at intervals of not more than three years 
and that such valuation be reflected in the financial reports 
of the Fund. It is the policy of the responsible entity to 
review the fair value of each investment property every  
six months and to cause investment properties to be revalued 
to fair values whenever their carrying value in aggregate 
differs materially to their fair values.

Notes to the Financial statements
year ended 30 June 2009
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note 3.  bAsis oF vAluAtion oF non-cuRRent Assets (continueD)

Fair value represents the amount at which an asset could be exchanged between a knowledgeable, willing buyer and a 
knowledgeable, willing seller in an arm’s length transaction at the date of valuation. It is based on current prices in an active 
market for similar property in the same location and condition and subject to similar lease and other contracts, adjusted  
for any differences in the nature, location or condition of the property, or in the contractual terms of the leases and other 
contracts relating to the property.

In the absence of current prices in an active market, the responsible entity considers information from a variety of sources, 
including current prices in an active market for properties of a different nature, condition or location, adjusted to reflect those 
differences, recent prices of similar properties on less active markets, with adjustments to reflect any changes in economic 
conditions since the date of the transactions that occurred at those prices, and discounted cash flow projections based on 
reliable estimates of future cash flows, using discount rates that reflect current market assessments of the uncertainty in the 
amount and timing of the cash flows.

In determining fair values, expected net cash flows are discounted to their present value using a market determined risk adjusted 
discount rate. the assessment of fair value of investment properties does not take into account potential capital gains tax 
assessable. changes in the fair value of an investment property are recorded in the income statement.

b) Investments in associates
associates are those entities which the Fund has significant influence, but not control. Investments in associates are accounted 
for using the equity method. the share of the associates’ net profit is recognised in the income statement and the share in 
movement in reserves is recognised in reserves in the balance sheet. the accumulation of post-acquisition movements in the 
Fund’s share of net assets of the associate is adjusted against the carrying value of the investment. distributions from associates 
reduce the carrying value of the investment in the financial statements.

note 4. DistRibutions

 consolidated

  2009 2008
  $’000 $’000

a) Rates and amounts of distributions
distributions have been paid or are payable in respect of the following
periods at the following rates (in cents per unit):
half-year ended 31 december 4.35 4.35
half-year ended 30 June 4.35 4.35

  8.70 8.70

  $’000 $’000

the total amounts of these distributions were:
– half-year ended 31 december 2,186 2,169
– half-year ended 30 June 2,223 2,170

Total distributions paid or payable 4,409 4,339

the distribution for the half-year ended 30 June 2008 was recognised in the 2008 financial year and paid on 
29 august 2008. the distribution for the half-year ended 30 June 2009 was recognised in the 2009 financial year 
and will be paid on 31 august 2009.

Notes to the Financial statements
year ended 30 June 2009
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note 5. net oPeRAting incoMe

the responsible entity uses the Fund’s net operating income as an additional performance indicator. Net operating income 
does not take into account certain items recognised in the income statement including unrealised gains or losses on revaluation 
of the Fund’s properties and derivatives. 

Net operating income is calculated as follows:

 consolidated

  2009 2008
  $’000 $’000

Net profit/(loss) attributable to unitholders (4,377) 15,965
adjusted for:
– straight line lease revenue recognition (1,100) (449)
– Net (gain)/loss on change in fair value of:

– Investment properties (3,157) (7,775)
– derivatives 8,921 (2,878)
– Investment properties included in share of net profit of equity accounted investments 357 1,270

– share of gain on change in fair value of investment property payable to lessee 4,838 —
– Gain on finance lease granted — (1,026)
– provision for performance fee — (14)

Net operating income 5,482 5,093

note 6. eARnings AnD net Assets PeR unit

 consolidated

  2009 2008

Net operating income – $’000 5,482 5,093
profit/(loss) attributable to unitholders – $’000 (4,377) 15,965
weighted average number of units outstanding – thousands 50,460 49,875
Net operating income per unit – cents 10.9 10.2
Basic and diluted earnings per unit – cents (8.7) 32.0
Net assets attributable to unitholders – $’000 56,103 64,149
Number of issued units at end of year – thousands 51,105 49,875
Net asset value per unit $1.10 $1.29
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Notes to the Financial statements
year ended 30 June 2009

note 7. PRoPeRty investMents
  latest external carrying capitalisation discount 
 cost to date valuation amount rate rate

   valuation 2009 2008 2009 2008 2009 2008
property $’000 date $’000 $’000 $’000 % % % %

epworth Freemasons private hospital 
& medical centre

victoria parade, 
east melbourne vic 27,601 31 dec 08 36,600 35,760 34,091 8.5% 8.0% 10.0% na

epworth Freemasons private hospital 1

clarendon street 
east melbourne vic 17,942 31 dec 08 28,000 28,000 18,009 na 7.3% 8.0% na

epworth rehabilitation camberwell 
cnr toorak & Burke roads 
camberwell vic 18,113 30 Jun 08 17,500 18,169 17,699 8.8% 8.0% 10.3% 9.5%

harvester centre
cnr harvester & devonshire roads 
sunshine vic 14,697 31 dec 08 13,000 12,454 14,635 9.0% 7.8% 10.8% na

pacific private clinic
19-123 Nerang street 
southport Qld 34,229 31 dec 08 34,000 33,511 32,000 8.1% 7.8% 9.8% na

arcBs Facility 2

cnr musk avenue & Blamey street 
Kelvin Grove Brisbane Qld 65,137 01 Jun 09 63,500 63,500 69,594 7.5% 6.5% 9.5% na

Total investment properties 177,719  192,600 191,394 186,028 8.0% 3 7.3% 9.6% na

classified as:
Investment properties Non-current   177,357 172,369
Finance lease receivable current   516 504
 Non-current   13,521 13,155

    191,394 186,028

1) the latest valuation of this property reflects the discounted future net property income for the remaining lease term  
and a terminal value based on the highest and best use at the end of the existing lease, being residential.

2) the cost to date shown is the net of total expenditure of $84,596,000 less the initial receipt under the finance lease  
of $19,459,000 (excluding Gst).

3) this weighted average excludes epworth Freemasons private hospital, clarendon street, east melbourne.

4) Investment property that has not been valued by external valuers at reporting date is carried at the responsible entity’s 
estimate of fair value in accordance with the accounting policy detailed at note 3(a). properties acquired during the period  
are held at cost, which is reflective of the estimate of fair value.
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note 8. segMent inFoRMAtion

the Fund operates in the one business segment, investment in healthcare property, in australia.

note 9. ResPonsible entity

a) Identity
the responsible entity of the Fund is ING management limited (“Iml”), a member of the ING group of companies for which  
the ultimate holding company is ING Groep Nv, a company incorporated in the Netherlands. In addition, ING healthcare pty ltd, 
a subsidiary of Iml and a company in which a related party of the Fund’s chief executive officer has a financial interest  
(with Iml, collectively “Imlh”), provides management services.

b) Fees of the Responsible Entity and its related parties
 consolidated

   2009 2008
  Note $ $

Imlh:
asset management fees (i) 990,227 574,287
performance fee (ii) — (14,201)

   990,227 560,086

property management fees (i) 231,579 40,000
property acquisition fees (iii) — 1,621,394
development management fees (iv) 157,500 —

   1,379,306 2,221,480

i) Imlh is entitled to an asset management fee of 0.6% per annum of total assets of the Group calculated and payable  
monthly in arrears. however, Iml has agreed to waive part of this fee, subject to the fee waived becoming immediately  
due and payable should Iml be removed as responsible entity of the Fund. In addition to the asset management fee,  
Iml receives property management fees at commercial rates.

ii) Imlh is entitled to a performance fee, being 15% of the dollar amount by which the actual performance of the Fund exceeds 
an internal rate of return benchmark of 11% per annum during the period from listing on the australian stock exchange 
until 30 June 2011. If Iml is removed as responsible entity of the Fund, this fee will become immediately payable.

iii) Imlh is entitled to an acquisition fee of up to 2% of the acquisition amount (including transaction costs) paid for properties  
by the Group. however, Imlh agreed to accept fees lower than the maximum for some properties.

iv) Imlh is entitled to a development management fee of up to 3% of total project cost, payable on completion of agreed  
project milestones.

v) If Iml is removed as responsible entity for reasons other than breach of trust, fraud or gross negligence, Iml is entitled  
to a removal fee equal to 1.8% of the total assets of the Group at the date of removal.
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Notes to the Financial statements
year ended 30 June 2009

note 9. ResPonsible entity (continueD)

c) Holdings of the Responsible Entity and its related parties
holdings of the responsible entity and its related parties (including managed investment schemes for which a related party  
is the responsible entity) as at reporting date were:

 Number of units held

  2009 2008

ING healthcare pty limited 1,342,701 808,987
ING real estate International Investments III Bv 917,171 800,089

  2,259,872 1,609,076

d) Other transactions with the Responsible Entity and its related parties
377,170 units were issued to the Imlh during the financial year (2008: nil) in satisfaction of asset management fees 
totalling $242,768.

ING Bank Nv (sydney Branch) is the provider of half of the revolving cash advance facility of $66,000,000 and some interest  
rate swaps. It also provided the construction facility that was fully repaid in 2008. amounts recognised were:

 consolidated

  2009 2008
  $ $

derivatives – current asset — 4,391,550
derivatives – current liability 1,325,436 —
Borrowings:
– current 33,000,000 —
– Non-current — 32,574,567
Gain on change in fair value of derivatives (5,716,986) 2,045,542
Interest expense (before interest capitalised) 1,977,189 5,662,833

note 10. subsequent events

the Fund has announced a unit purchase plan, providing an opportunity for unitholders to increase their investment in the Fund. 
the units will be offered at a 7.5% discount to the lower of the volume weighted average price (vwap) of the Fund’s units 
trading during the five business days up to and including 27 august 2009 or the five day vwap ending on 30 september 2009.
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  Liability limited by a scheme approved 
under Professional Standards Legislation 

 

 

 

 

Independent auditor’s report to the unitholders of ING Real Estate 
Healthcare Fund 
Report on the Concise Financial Report 

The accompanying concise financial report of ING Real Estate Healthcare Fund (the Fund) comprises the 
balance sheet as at 30 June 2009, the income statement, statement of changes in unitholders’ interest 
and cash flow statement for the year then ended and related notes, derived from the audited financial 
report of ING Real Estate Healthcare Fund for the year ended 30 June 2009. The concise financial report 
also includes discussion and analysis. The concise financial report does not contain all the disclosures 
required by the Australian Accounting Standards.  

Directors’ Responsibility for the Concise Financial Report  
The Directors of ING Management Limited, the Responsible Entity of the Fund, are responsible for the 
preparation and presentation of the concise financial report in accordance with Accounting Standard 
AASB 1039 Concise Financial Reports, and the Corporations Act 2001. This responsibility includes 
establishing and maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation of the concise financial report; 
selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are 
reasonable in the circumstances.  

Auditor’s Responsibility  
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the concise financial report based on our audit procedures. 
We have conducted an independent audit, in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards, of the 
financial report of ING Real Estate Healthcare Fund for the year ended 30 June 2009. Our audit report on 
the financial report for the year was signed on 28 August 2009. The Australian Auditing Standards 
require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and plan and 
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial report for the year is free from 
material misstatement.  

Our procedures in respect of the concise financial report included testing that the information in the 
concise financial report is derived from, and is consistent with, the financial report for the year, and 
examination on a test basis, of evidence supporting the amounts, discussion and analysis,  and other 
disclosures which were not directly derived from the financial report for the year. These procedures have 
been undertaken to form an opinion whether, in all material respects, the concise financial report 
complies with Accounting Standard AASB 1039 Concise Financial Reports and whether the discussion and 
analysis complies with the requirements laid down in AASB 1039 Concise Financial Reports.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our audit opinion.  

Independence 
In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Corporations Act 
2001.  
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Auditor’s Opinion  
In our opinion, the concise financial report, including the discussion and analysis of ING Real Estate 
Healthcare Fund for the year ended 30 June 2009 complies with Accounting Standard AASB 1039 
Concise Financial Reports.  

Significant Uncertainty as to Going Concern 
Without qualifying our conclusion, we draw attention to Note 2 in the concise financial report which 
indicates that the Fund needs to refinance its bank debt expiring in February 2010 and that continued 
compliance with the revised facility agreements is dependent on future market conditions including fair 
values of investment properties. These factors cast doubt over whether the Fund will realise its assets and 
liabilities in the normal course of business and at the amounts stated in the financial report. The concise 
financial report does not include any adjustments relating to the recoverability and classification of 
recorded asset amounts nor to the amounts and classification of liabilities that might be necessary should 
the fund not continue as a going concern. 

 

Ernst & Young 

 
Douglas Bain 
Partner 
Sydney 
28 August 2009 
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top 20 unitholders

rank Name of unitholder Number of units held at 31 august 2009 %

1 National Nominees limited  3,176,326 6.17%
2 rBc dexia Investor services australia Nominees pty limited <apN a/c> 2,197,415 4.27%
3 ING healthcare pty ltd 1,384,991 2.69%
4 ING real estate International Investments III Bv  1,017,171 1.98%
5 custodial services limited <Beneficiaries holding a/c> 959,496 1.86%
6 pineross pty ltd 600,000 1.17%
7 Gaffwick pty ltd 450,000 0.87%
8 mr peter edwards & mr david leeton <victor smorgon charitable Fund> 450,000 0.87%
9 vBs exchange pty ltd 352,060 0.68%
10 Boom securities (hK) ltd <clients account> 307,594 0.60%
11 mr peter maxwell edwards & mr david George leeton <v smorg charitable Fund a/c> 300,000 0.58%
12 polgrove pty ltd 300,000 0.58%
13 B m r Nominees pty ltd  300,000 0.58%
14 mr Kevin skelton  259,681 0.50%
15 rapee Fund pty ltd <rapee super Fund a/c> 207,800 0.40%
16 vcm Investments pty ltd  204,991 0.40%
17 victor smorgon scholarship Fund pty ltd <vic smorg scholar Fund a/c> 200,000 0.39%
18 mr harry James wheatley & mrs lorna may wheatley 200,000 0.39%
19 mr leonard christopher adams  195,708 0.38%
20 Bond street custodians limited <loBc – v06299 a/c> 179,809 0.35%

Total number of units reported: 13,243,042 25.73%

Total number of units on issue: 51,472,179 

% of total number of units reported: 25.73% 

RAnge oF unitHolDeRs

range holders Number of units %

1 to 1,000 59 35,686 0.07
1,001 to 5,000 1,073 3,498,330 6.80
5,001 to 10,000 656 5,030,129 9.77
10,001 to 100,000 1002 26,916,631 52.29
100,001 and over 41 15,991,403 31.07

Total 2,831 51,472,179 100.00

substAntiAl unitHolDeRs

the table below gives details of the last notice for each substantial unitholder lodged with the australian securities exchange  
to 31 august 2009.

date party Number of units %

22-may-09 apN Funds management limited 2,605,582 5.10%
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Investor relations

enquiries relating to ING real estate healthcare Fund  
can be directed to the ING real estate Investor services line  
on 1300 653 497 (or from outside australia +61 2 8280 7057). 
this service is available from 8.30am to 5.30pm (sydney time)  
on all business days.

WWW.ingReAlestAte.coM.Au

you can visit the ING real estate website to find information on the Fund, its property portfolio and recent 
unit price. while visiting the site unitholders can access their investment details including holding balance and 
payment history. recent annual and half year reports along with all asx announcements are also available. 

investoR beneFits

ING real estate is pleased to offer an Investor Benefits program offering investors the opportunity to purchase 
from entertainment and lifestyle providers at special discount and promotional rates. to participate in this 
program you need to go online to www.ingrealestate.com.au and access ‘my unitholding’ within the Investor 
centre section. Further details of how to log in to the benefits program can be found on this page.

DistRibution PAyMents AnD AnnuAl tAxAtion stAteMent

distributions are paid half yearly in February and august. you can view your 2008/2009 annual taxation 
statement online by visiting www.ingrealestate.com.au and accessing ‘my unitholding’ within the 
Investor centre section.

DistRibution ReinvestMent PlAn

the distribution reinvestment plan (drp) is currently in operation and allows unitholders to have their  
half-yearly distribution payment automatically reinvested as additional IhF units at a discount 1 to the market 
price, without brokerage or other transaction costs. participation is optional and unitholders can join,  
vary their participation or withdraw from the drp at any time.

2009/2010 unitHolDeR cAlenDAR 2

annual unitholder meeting November 2009

distribution paid for the half-year ending 31 december 2009 26 February 2010

half year update available 26 February 2010

distribution paid for the half-year ending 30 June 2010 31 august 2010

annual taxation statement for 2009/2010 financial year mailed 31 august 2010

annual report available 30 september 2010

1) the drp discount is subject to change at the discretion of the responsible entity.
2) this is indicative only and may be subject to change.



corporate directory

ing ReAl estAte HeAltHcARe FunD
arsN 118 712 584

ResPonsible entity

ING Management Limited
aBN 15 006 065 032 
aFs licence No: 237534

RegisteReD oFFice
level 6, 345 George street 
sydney Nsw 2000

telephone: +61 2 9033 1035 
Facsimile: +61 2 9033 1060 
email: realestate@ingrealestate.com 
website: www.ingrealestate.com.au

DiRectoRs oF iMl
r J colless am (chairman) 
p m clark am
m B easson am 
p J redmond 
p F scully

secRetARy
h s thomson

unit RegistRy

Link Market Services Limited
level 12, 680 George street 
sydney Nsw 2000

locked Bag a14 
sydney south Nsw 1235

telephone: 1300 653 497 (local call cost) 
or from outside australia: +61 2 8280 7057 
Facsimile: +61 2 9287 0303 
email: ingrealestate@linkmarketservices.com.au

AuDitoRs

Ernst & young
680 George street 
sydney Nsw 2000

Anti-Money lAunDeRing AnD counteR teRRoRisM 
FinAncing legislAtion

laws were implemented from 12 december 2007 to 
improve australia’s existing anti-money laundering and 
counter terrorism financing (aml/ctF) system. these laws 
meet higher international standards to protect australian 
businesses from being used for money laundering and 
terrorism financing.

as a result, ING real estate is required to identify their  
clients for certain transactions, such as:

> application for an issue of securities submitted by an 
investor (i.e. the applicant);

> off market ‘standard’ transfer submitted by an investor
(i.e. the buyer/transferee);

> transfers or transmissions from a deceased estate 
submitted by an investor (i.e the next of kin, executor, 
surviving joint holder, beneficiary).

the verification requirements only apply to transactions 
after 12 december 2007.

Generally, your financial adviser will advise you of the 
necessary documents you will need to provide for verification 
(such as your current driver’s licence or passport). If you 
undertake the transaction without a financial adviser,  
you will need to provide certified copies of these documents 
to the unit registry along with your transfer request.

If you do not provide identifying documents we will not  
be able to process your transaction.

PRivAcy Policy

ING management limited is committed to ensuring the 
confidentiality and security of your personal information. the 
ING privacy policy, detailing our handling of personal information, 
is available on our website www.ingrealestate.com.au

coMPlAints

ING management limited is a member of an independent 
dispute resolution scheme, the Financial ombudsman service 
(Fos ). any unitholder wishing to register a complaint should 
direct it to Investor services in the first instance, at the 
responsible entity’s address listed in the corporate directory 
in this report.
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